I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred in accepting the testimony of Lisa Mahony and 

Karie Mullen on summary judgment, in the absence of compliance with the 

provisions of RCW 5.45.020 and ER 803 (a)(6). 

B. The trial court erred in striking the Declaration of Tim Stephenson. 

C. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissing 

Appellant's claims on March 26, 2014, pursuant to CR 56, when there were 

genuine issues of material fact in dispute, including the existence of material 

defects in the original Deed of Trust; the existence of evidence of violation of 

the Washington Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA"); 

violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) 

(hereinafter "CPA"); violation of RCW 9A.82, et seq.; and the existence of 

injury and damages that are directly and proximately caused by Respondent's 

misconduct. 

D. The trial court erred in refusing to continue the hearing on summary 

judgment to permit Appellant an opportunity to obtain discovery previously 

requested of Respondents, pursuant to CR 56(/). 

II. ST ATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On March 18, 2004, Appellant, MARISA BA V AND (hereinafter 

"Ms. Bavand") executed a Promissory Note in favor of Capital Mortgage 

Corporation, as lender and the party entitled to receive payments according to 

its terms. CP 1853-1856. This transaction was purportedly registered with 



Respondent, MORT AGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, 

INC. (hereinafter "MERS"). Various versions of this Note have been offered 

during discovery, including one that bears two endorsements, one in blank, 

by Respondent, FLAGST AR BANK FSB (hereinafter "Flagstar"). CP 1502-

1505. There is no means to verify the authenticity of these endorsements as 

the original Note has never produced for verification. No evidence of any 

consideration for these endorsements has been adduced. 

To secure repayment of the Promissory Note, Ms. Bavand executed a 

Deed of Trust which was recorded March 31 , 2004. CP 1858-1875. "Joan H. 

Anderson, EVP" on behalf of Flagstar, was named the trustee . 

At no time relevant to this cause of action did Ms. Bavand owe any 

monetary or other obligation to MERS, nor has MERS ever been an owner or 

holder of the subject Promissory Note or other evidence of debt executed 

contemporaneously with the subject Deed of Trust. At no time has MERS 

been the beneficiary of the obligation within the terms of RCW 61 .24.005(2). 

While Ms. Bavand acknowledges that she may owe money under the subject 

Note to someone, she has consistently maintained that she does not owe 

money or any other obligation to any Respondent named herein . 

On February 1, 2011, Chris Ashcraft, believed to be an employee of 

Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC (hereinafter 

"NWTS"), claiming to act on behalf of MERS as its "Vice President", 
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executed an Assignment of Deed of Trust "for value received", assigning all 

beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust from "lender" to Respondent, 

CHASE HOME FINANCE, LLC. (hereinafter "Chase Finance"). CP 1885. 

The identity of the "lender" referred to or the Note holder granting this 

authority was not specified. Said Assignment was recorded on February 2, 

2011. No evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful owner and 

holder of the obligation for this Assignment has been adduced. 

On February 1,2011, Ken Patner, in his capacity of "Assistant Vice 

President" of NWTS, pursuant to the authority purportedly vested by a 

Limited Power of Attorney from Chase Finance, executed an Appointment of 

Successor Trustee appointing his own company, NWTS, the successor 

trustee. CP 1891. Said Appointment of Successor Trustee was recorded on 

February 2, 2011. No evidence of any grant of authority by the true and 

lawful owner and holder of the obligation for this Appointment has been 

adduced. 

On February 1, 2011, NWTS, claiming authority as the "duly 

authorized agent" for Chase Finance, issued a Notice of Default which states 

that the "Beneficiary (Note Owner)" of the Deed of Trust is Chase Finance. 

CP 1887-1889. At the time this document was prepared, this was false and 

known to be false at that time by all Respondents. 

On April 1, 2011, Ms. Bavand prepared and mailed a Qualified 

Written Request to JPMorgan Chase Bank NA (hereinafter "JP Morgan 
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Chase"), the then alleged servicer of the subject loan obligation. CP 1878-

1881 . This the Qualified Written Request was delivered on April 8, 2011. 

CP 1883 . At no time relevant to this cause of action has lPMorgan Chase 

Bank NA, or any Respondent named herein, responded to Ms. Bavand's 

Qualified Written Request. 

On December 21 , 2011, MERS executed a second Corporate 

Assignment of Deed of Trust "for good and valuable consideration", this time 

in favor of lP Morgan Chase. CP 996 and 1437. This Assignment was 

apparently never recorded, but was provided during the course of discovery. 

No evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful owner and 

holder of the obligation for this second assignment has been adduced. 

On April 18, 2012, apparently on the basis of the Assignment of Deed 

of Trust of December 21 , 2011 , Payne Davis, as "Vice President" of lP 

Morgan Chase, executed a second Appointment of Successor Trustee, again 

appointing NWTS as a successor trustee. CP 1433. This Appointment of 

Successor Trustee was not recorded, but was provided through discovery. No 

evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful owner and holder of 

the obligation for this second Appointment has been adduced. 

On May 8, 2012, Winston Kahn, as "Assistant Vice President" of 

NWTS executed a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a sale date for August 10, 

2012, and a Notice of Foreclosure, pursuant to RCW 61.24.040. CP 1441-

1446. The Notice of Trustee's Sale was dated May 2, 2012, but was not 
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notarized until May 8, 2012. This Notice of Trustees' Sale was recorded on 

May 10, 2012. No evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful 

owner and holder of the obligation for this Notice of Trustee's Sale and 

Notice of Foreclosure has been adduced. 

Frustrated by the lack of response to her Qualified Written Report, 

Ms. Bavand researched her loan on the internet. From a printed copy of 

Respondent, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION's 

(hereinafter "Fannie Mae") web loan lookup page, dated August 13, 2012, 

Ms. Bavand learned that Fannie Mae owned her loan and had owned her loan 

since April 1, 2004, approximately two weeks after the loan transaction 

closed. CP 1893. Further, Fannie Mae's web loan lookup page states that the 

servicer of Plaintiff's loan was JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA. This information 

is essentially confirmed by the Declaration of Karie Mullen of January 24, 

2014. CP 1554. However, this information and the sworn statement of Ms. 

Mullen contradict the representations contained in the Notice of Default of 

February 1, 2011, in which NWTS, as agent for "Chase Home Financial, 

LLC", represents that the owner and holder of the obligation is Chase Finance 

- not Fannie Mae or JP Morgan Chase. CP 1889. See also the Declaration of 

Tim Stephenson. CP 1368-1386. 

On August 20, 2012, Ms. Bavand brought suit against the 

Respondents for violation of the DTA, seeking damages and declaratory 
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relief, violation of the CPA, violation of RCW 9A.82, et seq., and reserving 

claims for violation of RESPA and FDCPA. 

In January of 2014, Respondents move for summary judgment on all 

of Ms. Bavand's claims, pursuant to CR 56. CP 1515-1531, 1604-1623, 

1624-1706. 

On March 26, 2014, the trial court granted Respondents' motions 

for summary judgment. CP 52-56 . At the same time the trial court entered 

an Order striking the Declaration of Tim Stephenson. CP 57-59. 

On April 3, 2014, Ms. Bavand filed a Notice of Appeal, seeking 

review of the trial court's Orders of March 26, 2014. CP 41-51. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

A trial court' s summary dismissal of claims under CR 56 is reviewed 

de novo, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the non-moving party. 

Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 1 P.3d 1167 

(2000); Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 

P.3d 677 (2013) (hereinafter "Schroeder"); Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB. 

176 Wn.App 475 , 485, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (hereinafter "Bavand'). 

Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Balise v. 

Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963); Schroeder; Herring v. 

Texaco, Inc., 161 Wn.2d 189, 165 P.3d 4 (2007); Bavand, at page 485. 
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The initial burden on summary judgment is on the moving party to 

prove that no material issue is genuinely in dispute. CR 56. Sworn 

statements on summary judgment must be (1) made on personal knowledge, 

(2) setting forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing 

affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the 

sworn statement. Snohomish County v. Rugg, 115 Wn.App. 218, 61 P.3d 

1184 (2002); Blomster v. Nordstrom, 103 Wn.App. 252, 11 P .3d 883 (2000). 

In reviewing the evidence submitted on summary judgment, facts 

asserted by the non-moving party and supported by affidavits or other 

appropriate evidentiary material must be taken as true. State ex rei Bond v. 

State, 62 Wn.2d 487,383 P.2d 288 (1963). 

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach 

only one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable 

to the non-moving party. Shows v. Pemperton, 73 Wn.App. 107, 868 P.2d 

164 (1994); Doherty v. Munipality of Metro, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P .2d 1098 

(1996); Goad v. Hambridge, 85 Wn.App. 98, 931 P.2d 200 (1997). When 

there is contradictory evidence, or the moving parties' evidence is impeached, 

an issue of credibility is presented. The trial court should not resolve issues 

of credibility on summary judgment, but should reserve the issue of 

credibility for trial. Balise v. Underwood, supra. 
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B. The trial court erred in accepting the testimony of Lisa 
Mahony and Karie Mullen. 

On summary judgment, Respondents relied primarily on the 

Declarations Lisa Mahony and Karie Mullen. CP 1498-1507; 1552-1603. 

However, the sworn statements of Ms. Mahony and Ms. Mullen failed to 

demonstrate sufficient personal and testimonial knowledge of the facts they 

offered the trial court and should have been stricken. However, the 

testimony they did offer, presuming its truth, revealed the existence of 

disputes as to material issues fact between the Respondents that should have 

defeated their motions. 

Ms. Mahony offered the trial court only her conclusory statement 

that she has "personal knowledge" and that she had reviewed the "records 

regularly kept by Flagstar," but failed to provide the trial court facts that 

would establish (1) that the computer equipment used by Flagstar is standard; 

(2) the identity of who compiled the information contained in the computer 

printouts; (3) a statement of how the information is maintained, (4) when the 

entries were made and whether they were made at or near the time of the 

happening or event; (5) how Flagstar relies on these records; or (6) what 

specific records she reviewed. See RCW 5.45.020; State v. Smith, 16 

Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 

P.2d 1357 (1979). 
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Ms. Mahony asserts that Flagstar received the endorsed Note on April 

2, 2004, but was not apparently there at the time. CP 1499. She relies on 

Flagstar's "business records" and review of a copy of the Note, but fails to 

indicate who provided this information, whether they personally witnessed 

the endorsement of the Note, when this information was provided and how 

the information has been maintained over time. Ms. Mahony fails to state 

why Flagstar kept the Note in storage. CP 1499. Was Flagstar acting as a 

servicer or as a custodian and for whom? Ms. Mahony does not say. 

Ms. Mahony states that in May of 2004 the loan was sold to JP 

Morgan Chase Bank, but apparently relies on computer compiled information 

for this fact. CP 1499. There certainly is no collateral or documentary 

evidence to support Ms. Mahony's assertion that the loan was sold to JP 

Morgan Chase in the record before trial court. Was the entire interest in the 

obligation sold or merely the servicing rights? More surprising is the fact that 

Ms. Mahony's testimony is contradicted by the testimony of Karie Mullen, 

who testifies that Note was sold to Fannie Mae on April 8,2004. 1 There is no 

indication in Ms. Mullen's testimony to corroborate the sale to JP. Morgan 

What Ms. Mullen states is that "Fannie Mae became the investor of 
the obligation on April 8, 2004 ." CP 1554. However, the term "investor" is 
synonymous with the term "owner" as the terms are understood by professionals in the 
mortgage lending industry. See Declaration of Counsel of February 11, 2014. CP 468 
and 532. 
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Chase. In sum, Ms. Mahony appears to be merely parroting what she has 

seen on someone else's computer screen. 

For her part, all Ms. Mullen says about her basis of knowledge is that 

she is "familiar with the manner in which Chase maintains its books and 

records, including its computer records relating to the serving of this loan," 

but, like Ms. Mahony, fails to provide the trial court facts that would 

establish (1) that the computer equipment used by Chase Financial is 

standard; (2) the identity of person or entity that compiled the original 

information contained in the computer printouts; (3) a statement of how the 

information is maintained by the person or entity that created the information 

or how it has been maintained by Chase Financial since, (4) when the entries 

were made and whether they were made at or near the time of the happening 

or event; (5) how Chase Financial relies on these records; (6) or what specific 

books and records she is referring to. See RCW 5.45.020; State v. Smith, 

supra.; State v Kane, supra. 

Although Ms. Mullen's asserts that Chase Financial or lP Morgan 

Chase is the "holder" and "servicer" of the mortgage loan, she provides no 

evidence of Chase Financial's appointment as servicer by Fannie Mae or any 

true and lawful owner and holder of the subject obligation. As noted above, 

the testimony of Ms. Mullen is contradicted by the testimony of Ms. Mahony 

on key issues, which undercuts her credibility and creates genuine issues of 

material fact as to the facts upon which the two women disagree. 
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Neither Ms. Mahony nor Ms. Mullen offered the trial court the sort of 

personal and testimonial knowledge required under CR 56(e). There were 

simply no facts offered by Ms. Mahony or Ms. Mullen that would justify the 

trial court's reliance on the information provided. There was simply no basis 

to establish "personal knowledge. We know nothing about Ms. Mahony ' s or 

Ms . Mullen's actual work activities or how they are qualified to speak to the 

issues they attempt to address. Absent a proper foundation , Ms. Mahony's 

and Ms. Mullen's testimony constituted rank hearsay. See ER 803(a)(6) and 

RCW 5.45.020. 

Both Ms . Mahony and Ms. Mullen appear to suggest they are records 

custodians for their respective employers. However, their testimony fails to 

comply with ER 803(a)(6) and RCW 5.45.020. 

Ms. Mahony offered the trial court testimony as an agent of Flagstar 

that currently did not then own or hold Ms. Bavand's Note and was not then 

actively servicing Ms. Bavand' s loan. The copies of records Ms. Mahony 

apparently relies upon appear to have been initially generated by Capital 

Mortgage Corporation. But, there is no assurance that the information 

obtained by Flagstar from Capital Mortgage Corporation or any other 

Respondent named herein and reviewed by Ms. Mahony is reliable without 

verification by the entity the provided the information as to the means by 

which the information was created and maintained. See State v. Mason , 31 

Wn.App. 680, 644 P.2d 710 (1982) . 

1 1 



Ms. Mullen offered the trial court testimony as an agent of Chase 

Financial. The copies of records she relies upon appear to have been initially 

generated by Capital Mortgage Corporation and Flagstar. But, there is no 

assurance that the information allegedly obtained by Chase Financial from 

Capital Mortgage Corporation or Flagstar and reviewed by Ms. Mullen is any 

more reliable than Ms. Mahony's without verification of the information 

received and the means by which the information was originally created and 

maintained by each entity. See State v. Mason, supra. . 

Under CR 56(e), conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the 

affiant has personal knowledge is insufficient to support a motion for 

summary judgment. Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., supra.; Editorial 

Commentary to CR 56 (citing Antonio v. Barnes, 464 F2d 584, 585 4th Cir. 

1972. 

Since neither Ms. Mahony nor Ms. Mullen can establish or verify the 

reliability of the "business records" and computer entries they reviewed and 

rely upon, their testimony is rank hearsay and is not the sort of personal and 

testimonial knowledge required under CR 56(e). The trial court should not 

have considered or relied upon their testimony. But, the trial court should 

have taken judicial notice of the contradictions in the two women's 

testimony, without relying on the same for the truth of the matters asserted, to 

establish the existence of material issues in dispute as the facts upon which 

they disagreed. 
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C. The trial court erred in striking the Declaration of Tim 
Stephenson. 

The trial court erred in striking the testimony of Tim Stephenson. His 

testimony was permissible under ER 702. The fact that his testimony 

"embraced an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact" based on 

information "reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field" did not 

make his testimony inadmissible. ER 703 and ER 704. 

Generally, a trial court has wide discretion in its consideration of 

expert testimony. Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn.App. 140, 34 P.3d 835 (2001). 

But this discretion should be "exercised liberally in favor of admitting 

evidence" that would assist the Court in evaluating the issues before it. State 

v Hansen, 46 Wn.App. 656, 731 P.2d 1140 (1987); Davis v. Baugh Industrial 

Contractors, Inc., 159 W.2d 413, 420-421, 150 P.3d 545 (2007) ("It should 

not be fatal to a party's claim or defense that an expert used legal jargon, so 

long as an appropriate foundation for the conclusion can be gleaned from the 

testimony). 

Indeed a review of Washington case law reveals that evaluation of an 

expert's opinions is more critical when the opinions are being provided to ~ 

jury in a criminal trial than when the opinions are being offered to the savvy 

trial judge on a civil motion, where the judge would be less swayed by the 

expert's opinion than a jury. Certainly the case of State v. Olmedo, 112 

Wn.App. 525, 49 P.3d 960 (2002), cited by Respondents at hearing, is 
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representative of that group of cases in which jury prejudice was a crucial 

consideration ("Evidence is not improper when the testimony is not a direct 

comment on the Respondent's guilt, is helpful to the jury, and based on 

inference from the evidence."). 

At hearing, Respondents offered a number of criminal and federal 

trial court decisions to support their motion to strike Mr. Sephenson ' s 

testimony, but the cases cited are distinguishable from the present situation, 

largely because they are related to testimony offered to a jury in criminal 

matters or are federal trial court decisions that involve application of federal 

rules of evidence, not Washington state rules of evidence. Respondents 

reliance of Fidel v. Deutsche Bank was misplaced as a reference to a federal 

trial court that has not been published. GR 14.1. Likewise, Respondents 

reliance on Abarquez v. OneWest Bank, was misplaced as it, too, is an 

unpublished opinion and relied on a burden of proof that has been rejected by 

Washington. 

Turning to the specific statements objected to in Respondents ' 

moving papers, the opinions stricken by the trial court are those that would be 

reached by a professional of Mr. Stephenson ' s experience in the mortgage 

banking industry. Specifically: 

A. Mr. Stephenson's comment that there are material issues of 
fact is not a legal conclusion but an observation that there is a lack of 
evidence a reasonably competent mortgage lender would expect to 
find in the normal course of businesses necessary to support the 
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Respondent's allegations of authority to conduct a non-judicial 
foreclosure against Appellant. 

B. Mr.Stephenson's comments regarding the Declarations of 
Ms. Mahony and Ms. Mullen state the obvious. He is merely 
commenting on the evidence that supports his other conclusions and 
is warranted under ER 703.

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