No. 71724-3 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARISA BAVAND,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

CHASE HOME FINANCE LLC, et al.,

Respondents/Defendants.

ST. SUL

RESPONDENTS CHASE HOME FINANCE LLC, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. AND FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Bishop, Marshall & Weibel, P.S.
Attorneys for Respondents
Chase Home Finance LLC
Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. and
Federal National Mortgage Association
Adam G. Hughes, WSBA#34438

720 Olive Way, Suite 1201 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 622-5306 Phone (206) 622-0354 Fax Email: ahughes@bwmlegal.com

## **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Applicable Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals reviews an order for summary judgment *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash.*, 175 Wn.2d 264, 271, 285 P.3d 854 (2012).

Summary judgment is appropriate where the "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law." Civil Rule (CR) 56(c). A material fact is one on which the outcome of the litigation depends. *Swinehart v. City of Spokane*, 145 Wn. App. 836, 844, 187 P.3d 345 (2008). A defendant can move for summary judgment in either of two

ways: (1) set out its version of the facts and allege that there is no genuine issue based on those facts; or (2) point out to the court that the nonmoving party lacks sufficient evidence to support its case. *Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 677, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001).

Once a moving party meets its burden to show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts rebutting the moving party's contention and disclosing that a genuine issue of material fact exists. *Strong v. Terrell*, 147 Wn. App. 376, 384, 195 P.3d 977 (2008). If the nonmoving party "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which the party will bear the burden of proof at trial," then summary judgment should be granted. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1982).

Mere allegations, argumentative assertions, conclusory statements, and speculation do not raise issues of material fact to preclude summary judgment. *Grimm v. Univ. of Puget Sound,* 110 Wn.2d 355, 360, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). The party seeking to avoid summary judgment must affirmatively present the admissible factual evidence upon which he relies; he cannot rely upon the bare allegations of his pleadings. *Meyer v. University of Washington,* 105 Wn.2d 847, 852 (1986).

#### B. Summary Judgment Properly Granted

1. Claims for Wrongful Foreclosure, Violation of the Deeds of Trust Act, and for Declaratory Relief Fail.

Ms. Bavand's claims for wrongful foreclosure and alleged violations of the Deeds of Trust Act fail because no foreclosure has occurred and thus no such claims exist under Washington law as explicitly addressed in a September 18, 2014, decision by the Washington Supreme Court. *See Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Serves. Inc.*, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_ (September 18, 2014) ("We hold that the DTA does not create an independent cause of action for monetary damages based on alleged violations of its provisions where no foreclosure sale has been completed.") Copy provided as Attachment A hereto. Ms. Bavand's claims also fail under the Uniform Commercial Code, chapter 61.24 RCW, and Washington case law because at all times relevant to this action Chase was the holder of the Note and thus the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust.

a. Chase is the "Holder" of the Note and Entitled to Enforce the Note and Deed of Trust and Appoint Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. as Trustee.

For more than 50 years Washington's negotiable instrument enforcement law has been the Uniform Commercial Code's ("UCC") Article 3. Under that law, a promissory note is a negotiable instrument. RCW 62A.3-104(a), (b), and (e). A note may be enforced by, "the holder

of the instrument...." RCW 62A.3-101. In turn, "holder" is defined as the "person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A). In other words, the holder possesses a note payable or indorsed to itself or in blank. If a note is made payable to an identified person, the note may be negotiated to another who thereby becomes its holder by transferring possession of the note and by indorsement of the note by its holder. RCW 62A.3-201.

The UCC's Permanent Editorial Board recently reaffirmed application of these laws to notes secured by deeds of trust. See CP 1535 - 1551 ("PEB Report"). Seeking to "identify[] and explain[] several key rules in the UCC that govern the ... enforcement of notes secured by a mortgage [or Deed of Trust] on real property," the Board stated:

The first way that a person may qualify as the person entitled to enforce a note is to be its "holder." This familiar concept, ... requires that the person be in possession of the note and either (1) the note is payable to that person or (ii) the note is payable to bearer. Determining to whom a note is payable requires examination not only of the face of the note but also of any indorsements. This is because the party to whom a note is payable may be changed by indorsement so that, for example, a note payable to the order of a named payee that is indorsed in blank by that payee becomes payable to bearer.

PEB Report, p. 5 (fns. omitted). The UCC's indorsement provisions are also Washington law. RCW 62A.3-204(a), RCW 62A.3-205(b).

The Washington State Supreme Court recognized the above UCC provisions defining "holder" and "person entitled to enforce" in nonjudicial foreclosure cases in *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc.*, 175 Wn. 83, 104 (2012). Since 1998, the Deed of Trust Act has defined "beneficiary" as "the holder of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust, excluding persons holding the same as security for a different obligation." LAWS OF 1998, ch. 295, § 1(2), codified as RCW 61.24.005(2). In *Bain*, the court held that to enforce a deed of trust, "a beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note or be the payee." *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 104.

The law in Washington regarding negotiable instruments is the UCC codified at chapter 62A RCW. RCW 62A.9A-203(g) states: "Lien securing right to payment. The attachment of a security interest in a right to payment or performance secured by a security interest or other lien on personal or real property is also attachment of a security interest in the security interest, mortgage, or other lien." This section is identical to UCC Section 9-203(g), including the supporting comments: "Collateral Follows Right to Payment or Performance. Subsection (g) codifies the common-law rule that a transfer of an obligation secured by a security

interest or other lien on personal or real property also transfers the security interest or lien. *See* RESTATEMENT (3D), PROPERTY (MORTGAGES) § 5.4(a) (1997)." In other words, the security follows the debt.

Again, the Washington State Supreme Court in *Bain* held: "Washington's deed of trust act contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around." *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 104. It is the holder of the promissory note who qualifies as the beneficiary and who is entitled to enforce the security interest. *Id.* at 98-99.

The Note at issue in this case was last indorsed in blank and was in Chase's possession from November 2004 to the time Ms. Bavand filed her Complaint. CP 1554, 1558-1561. Thus, under RCW 62A.1-201(b)(21)(A) and the Washington State Supreme Court's decision in *Bain*, Chase, as the holder of the Note was the beneficiary entitled to enforce the Deed of Trust. At Chase's request, NWTS initiated foreclosure proceeding and was appointed as Successor Trustee. Furthermore, NWTS issued the Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's sale at the request of Chase. Thus, Chase, as the holder of the Note and beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, directed the initiation of the foreclosure proceedings. There was no violation of the Deed of Trust Act and there is no basis for Ms. Bavand's requested declaratory relief.

## b. Ownership of the Note is Not a Requirement to Enforce the Deed of Trust.

To foreclose under Washington law, the foreclosing entity need not own the Note. *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Servs, Inc.*, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, 326 P.3d 768, No. 70592-0-I (Div. I, June 2, 2014); RCW 62A.3-101; *Bain, supra*, 175 Wn.2d at 104; PEB Report, p. 8. Although Fannie Mae has owned Ms. Bavand's loan since April 2004, Chase Home Finance LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as successor by merger, have remained the loan servicer and in possession of the original Note indorsed in blank since the loan was transferred from Flagstar.

As discussed above, a "beneficiary" under the Deeds of Trust Act is defined as the "holder" of the Note. Imputing an "ownership" requirement to the definition of "beneficiary" under RCW 61.24.005(2) is inconsistent with the Deeds of Trust Act and the UCC and at odds with the intent of the Washington State Legislature. Washington courts have long held that for a "holder" to enforce an instrument, "[i]t is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has some beneficial interest in the proceeds." *John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc.*, 75 Wn.2d 214, 450 P.2d 166 (1969).

Recognizing *John Davis & Co.*, *supra*, this court recently rejected the same claim as is being asserted in this case. See *Trujillo*, 326 P.3d 768.

As in this case, the borrower in *Truijillo* argued that RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) requires that a beneficiary be both the holder and the owner of the note. The court squarely rejected this argument. First, inclusion of use of different words, "owner" and "holder," in the same statute by the legislature indicated that it did not intend them to have the same meaning. Second, citing to *John Davis & Co, supra,* discussed above, the court confirmed that Washington common law makes clear that the holder has authority to enforce a note and that the question of ownership of a note is irrelevant to enforcement. Third, the court relied upon RCW 62A.3-301 to reach its conclusion that a holder may enforce a note. In sum, the court held that a beneficiary declaration under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) is sufficient if the declaration provides proof that the party is the holder of the note.

The United States District Court for the Western District of Washington also reached the same conclusion in *Corales v. Flagstar Bank, FSB,* 22 F.Supp.2d 1102, 1107 (W.D. Wash. 2011). In determining that Flagstar as the "holder" of the note at issue was entitled to enforce the deed of trust, the court stated:

Plaintiffs allege that Flagstar "transferred" their loan into a mortgaged-backed security fund related to Fannie Mae. However, even assuming that Plaintiffs' allegations are true, they have not established that Flagstar presently lacks authority to enforce the Deed of Trust at issue or that Flagstar lacks authority to initiate foreclosure proceedings.

It is undisputed that Flagstar is in possession of the original Note at issue, endorsed in blank. Flagstar therefore is the holder of the Note with the right to enforce it and the corresponding Deed of Trust. ... [E]ven if a lender sells a loan to Fannie Mae, the lender's possession of the Note endorsed in blank means that it may foreclose in its own name. Thus, even if Fannie Mae has an interest in Plaintiffs' loan, Flagstar has the authority to enforce it. Thus, the court grants Flagstar's and MERS's motion with regard to this issue.

Corales, 22 F.Supp.2d at 1107 (citations omitted). This holding follows the Washington State Supreme Court's holding in *Bain* and this Court's decision in *Trujillo*.

If, contrary to Washington statute and case law, evidence of Chase's status as a "holder" is insufficient to establish its authority to foreclose the Deed of Trust, Chase's servicing agreement authorizes Chase to act on Fannie Mae's behalf in directing institution of foreclosure proceedings and executing foreclosure documents. CP 1554.

Chase is both the Note holder and authorized servicer for Fannie Mae, the Note owner. Chase is entitled to institute foreclosure proceedings in its own name against the Property, and therefore this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of Defendants' summary judgment motion.

#### c. MERS Involvement Does Not Support Any Claims.

Ms. Bavand asserts in her Complaint that no Defendant holds her Note, MERS is not a proper beneficiary, and therefore no one may foreclose. However, the Bain court stated it "tended to agree" that a DTA violation - such as denominating MERS as beneficiary - "should not result in a void deed of trust." Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 113. Similarly, MERS's involvement here does not support any of Ms. Bavand's claims. MERS was identified as the Deed of Trust's beneficiary but in a nominee capacity for the lender, Capital Mortgage Corporation and its successors and assigns, a practice held to not be actionable. Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 113. MERS executed an Assignment of Deed of Trust in February 2011, but Defendants do not rely on that assignment, and no claim may be premised on it. See Lynott v. Mtg. Elec. Reg. Sys., Inc., 2012 WL 5995053, at \*2 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 30, 2012) (dismissing with prejudice plaintiff's claims based on MERS's assignment because, "possession of the note makes U.S. Bank the beneficiary; the assignment merely publicly records that fact"). MERS took no action in connection with the foreclosure. Chase's right to foreclose is based upon its possession of the Note, indorsed in blank, not MERS's assignment. As the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington recognized:

[T]he situation at issue here is unlike the situation in *Bain* v. *Metro. Mortg. Group Inc.* In *Bain*, the alleged authority to foreclose was based solely on MERS's assignment of the deed of trust, rather than on possession of the Note. Here, however, the undisputed facts establish that OneWest had authority to foreclose, independent of MERS, since OneWest held Plaintiffs' Note at the time of foreclosure.

Florez v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 2012 WL 1118179, \*1 (W.D. Wash. April 3, 2012).

Further, Ms. Bavand ignores the fact that Chase as the note holder and a member of the MERS® System is the principal of MERS the nominee (agent), and MERS executed documents at Chase's request. MERS executed the assignment at the direction of Chase and MERS merely assigned its record agency interest in the deed of trust to Chase, the beneficiary. Ms. Bavand's assertions that Defendants conspired to defraud of her Property are simply unsupported allegations.

Nothing in *Bain* supports Ms. Bavand's claims in this case, because the foreclosing entity did not rely on MERS or any MERS assignment or appointment to foreclose, but instead had possession of the Note. Because Chase was entitled to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust, MERS's limited involvement gives rise to no claims, summary judgment as to MERS should be affirmed.

2. Ms. Bavand's Consumer Protection Act Claim was Properly Dismissed Because she Failed to Establish Causation, Reliance, and Damages.

Ms. Bavand must prove five elements to succeed on her Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86, et seq. ("CPA") claim: (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice: (2) which occurred in trade or commerce; (3) with public interest impact; (4) caused injury to plaintiff's business or property; and (5) causation. Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). Failure to satisfy even one element is fatal to a CPA claim. Id. at 793. To establish a per se violation, a plaintiff must show "that a statute has been violated which contains a specific legislative declaration of public interest impact." Id. at 791.

Ms. Bavand's claims fail because Chase was in physical possession of the Note, indorsed in blank, and qualified as a "holder" for the purposes of the UCC and chapter 61.24 RCW. Thus, identification of Chase on the Notice of Default and the Notice of Trustee's Sale as the beneficiary was correct and does not constitute a "deceptive act" on the part of Chase or Fannie Mae under the CPA. Accordingly, Ms. Bavand's claim that identifying Chase as the "holder" on the Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's Sale was deceptive fails. Her argument that Fannie Mae, not Chase, was the holder or that it managed a "yet unidentified

securitized trust" was supported by no evidence, and the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment.

Furthermore, Ms. Bavand has not established any deceptive act of MERS caused her harm. Proof of causation is an essential CPA element. Schnall v. AT&T Wireless Svcs., Inc., 168 Wn.2d 125, 144, 225 P.3d 929 (2010). The causal link is but-for – a plaintiff must establish that the "injury complained of ... would not have happened" if not for defendant's acts. Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 82, 170 P.3d 10 (2007) (emphasis added). "Depending on the deceptive practice at issue and the relationship between the parties, the plaintiff may need to prove reliance to establish causation ...." Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 59, n. 15, 204 P.3d 885 (2009).

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